UCLA UCLA Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Functional and Molecular Changes of the Maternal Heart During the Late Pregnancy: A Two-Dimensional Speckle-Tracking Echocardiography Study

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/7314h6hf

Author Moazeni, Shayan

Publication Date 2018

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

Los Angeles

Functional and Molecular Changes of the Maternal Heart during Late

Pregnancy: A Two-Dimensional Speckle-Tracking Echocardiography

Study

A thesis submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree

Master of Science in Physiological Science

by

Shayan Moazeni

© Copyright by

Shayan Moazeni

ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS

Functional and Molecular Changes of the Maternal Heart during the Late Pregnancy: A Two-Dimensional Speckle-Tracking Echocardiography

Study

by

Shayan Moazeni

Master of Science in Physiological Science University of California, Los Angeles, 2018 Professor Mansoureh Eghbali, Co-Chair Professor Arthur P. Arnold, Co-Chair

Abstract

Background: During pregnancy, the hearts of pregnant women undergo several changes that effect its structure and function, which is necessary for the progression of a successful pregnancy. Currently, many publications have shown highly variable reporting in the systolic function pregnant women when compared to non-pregnant (NP) controls. Here we investigated whether two-dimensional speckle tracking echocardiography (STE), a highly sensitive load independent modality that is intended to measure cardiac function, can detect changes in the myocardium in late pregnant (LP) female rats. Moreover, we believe that STE can detect subtle changes that may be attributed to hypertrophy process and/or subclinical myocardial dysfunction.

ii

Methods: Adult female Sprague-Dawley rats were used in NP, LP, and postpartum (PP; day 3, 7, and 14) stages. The hearts and the left ventricles were isolated to measure LV hypertrophy and total RNA was isolated using the Trizol RNA isolation protocol. RNA was then reverse transcribed with a gene-specific primer. Standard western blot analysis was performed using in-vivo whole heart lysates. Transthoracic echocardiography was acquired to monitor cardiac function by conventional parameters (LVEF, FS, and heart rate) and with STE. **Results:** As expected LP rats had significantly increased hypertrophy and this was reversed by day 14 after delivery. LP rats showed no statistically significant change in LVEF and FS compared to NP rats. LP rats had significantly reduced global circumferential and radial strain compared to NP rats. Changes were transient as both strain values were reversed by day 14 in the circumferential plane and after 1 day in the radial plane after delivery. Finally, Western Blot analysis showed that phosphorylated Akt/Akt protein levels were decreased ~7fold at the end of pregnancy compared to NP. Additionally, phosphorylated STAT3/STAT3 was also significantly lower (~4 fold) at the end of pregnancy. **Conclusions**: The hearts of LP rats have significantly different strain changes compared to NP when using STE. This study provides reference data on the normal range of maternal cardiac motion with STE and changes in LV systolic function during normal pregnancy. However, whether these changes are an adaptive response or are a response to sub-clinical myocardial dysfunction has yet to be elucidated. In the future, use of STE for early detection of pregnancyassociated cardiovascular complications.

iii

The thesis of Shayan Moazeni is approved.

Soban Umar

Xia Yang

Arthur P. Arnold, Committee Co-Chair

Mansoureh Eghbali, Committee Co-Chair

University of California, Los Angeles

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vii
INTRODUCTION	1
Cardiac adaptations during pregnancy	1
Pregnancy and Myocardial Strain Imaging	2
METHODS	3
Animals	3
Cardiac hypertrophy measurements	4
Echocardiography and strain analysis	4
Real-time qPCR	5
Western blot analysis	.5
Statistical analysis	.5
RESULTS	.6
DISCUSSION	.8
Reduced myocardial strain in late pregnancy	.8
Structural and molecular changes in late pregnancy	9
Future of speckle tracking echocardiography during pregnancy	10
CONCLUSION	12
FIGURES	13
REFERENCES	18

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank my mentors Dr. Mansoureh Eghbali and Dr. Soban Umar for their support, training, and guidance during my time in their labs. They have given me a strong foundation and shown me what are the necessary steps needed to produce high quality research.

I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. Arthur Arnold and Xia Yang for their feedback on my project.

Thank you Grégoire Ruffenach, Christine Cunningham, and Mylene Vaillancourt for training me in basic science lab techniques and creating a supportive network within the lab. Thank you, Ashley Hannah Allen, for helping me become a better writer over the past few years and sacrificing time and energy to make sure I can be successful.

Thank you to my co-authors, Dr. Eghbali, Dr. Umar, Dr. Emily Methangkool, and Dr. Aman Mahajan for their intellectual input for this project. Also, thank you to Shervin Sarji for providing interobserver calculations for this project.

Finally, I want to thank my beloved family for their support over the years. You have always been there for me and helped get out of my hardest moments in life thus far.

vi

Introduction

Cardiac adaptations during pregnancy

During pregnancy the hearts of pregnant women and rodents develop a reversible physiological hypertrophy in response to volume overload, mechanical stress, and increased cardiac output (CO) [1]. To date, many mechanisms characterizing the hemodynamic and electrophysiological changes observed during pregnancy have been described, such as increased stroke volume (SV), blood volume, end-diastolic volume (EDV), action potential duration, and prolonged QT intervals [1–5]. Despite the numerous reports on cardiac adaptions during pregnancy, left ventricular (LV) function appears to be a controversial.

Currently, literature in both clinical and pre-clinical studies support that an increased CO is paralleled with a decrease in peripheral vascular resistance (PVR) [4]. However, LV systolic function in healthy pregnant subjects have been variously described as decreased, increased or remained constant when analyzing conventional echocardiographic parameters such as ejection fraction (EF), fractional shortening (FS), and tissue doppler velocity (TDV) [3,6–11]. This discrepancy in the reporting could be a result of differences in heart rate (HR), circulating serum sex steroids, and possibly differences in the stages of pregnancy (1st, 2nd, and 3rd trimester). It is important to note that all of the reported findings on cardiac function during pregnancy use conventional parameters (EF, FS, and TDV) that are load dependent [12–16]. Increased blood volume, venous return, and EDV, all contribute to an increase in preload, which results in an increased SV that is consistent with current literature [1,4,12]. Therefore, the use of these

conventional parameters is limited by the variations in ventricular loading conditions in pregnancy [13].

Pregnancy and Myocardial Strain Imaging

Given the limitations present with conventional echocardiographic parameters, more sensitive and load independent measurements should also be measured to ensure LV function is accurately represented. This is especially important during the late pregnant stage where some investigators have found decreased function and trends of subclinical myocardial dysfunction [10,11,17]. If subclinical myocardial dysfunction caused or triggered from the physiological hemodynamic changes during normal pregnancy. While these changes are subclinical at rest, they may become clinically relevant when there is an increased demand on the heart. Therefore, new novel parameters like speckle tracking echocardiography (STE), a type of myocardial strain imaging, can be utilized as it overcomes the limitations that are present in conventional parameters and is a highly sensitive tool that can detect subclinical myocardial dysfunction [12,13,16].

Recently, two-dimensional STE has been shown to decrease significantly in late pregnancy [12]. However, no pre-clinical studies have yet to report normal strain imaging changes in murine models and changes that occur after delivery during the post-partum period. Additionally, no studies have yet to identify if changes in myocardial strain are due to hypertrophy or due to the activity of cardioprotective signaling pathways such as PI3K/Akt/GSK3β and/or MAPK/ERK1/2 that have

been implicated in the heart remodeling process during pregnancy [1,5,6,17–20]. Therefore, we hypothesized two possibilities; 1) The structural changes during pregnancy causes subtle changes in the myocardium that can be detected using STE; and 2) during pregnancy cardiac maladaptation's lead to subclinical myocardial dysfunction that can be detected using STE.

Materials and Methods

Animals

Thirty-one healthy adult (~ 2–3 months old; 250-350 grams) female spraguedawley rats were used in this study. Rats were distributed into three main groups, non-pregnant (diestrus stage; n=8), late pregnant, (LP, n=8), and post-partum (PP, n=15). All LP echocardiographic measurements and collected organs were completed in the evening of day 20 from gestation. Since the length of gestation in sprague-dawley rats is between 21-22 days, all measurements were conducted on day 20 since our interest in this study is during the late pregnant stage [21]. Additionally, PP designated rats were further placed in different groups to examine if recovery and/or changes are present after 1 (n=3), 7 (n=6), and 14 (n=6) days after delivery. These timepoints were chosen because pregnancy-induced hypertrophy in mice has been shown to be reversed by day 7 after delivery in our previous work [19]. The investigation conformed to the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals published by the United States National Institute of Health (NIH Publication No. 85-23, revised 1996). The animal protocol was approved by the University of California Los Angeles School of Medicine Animal Research Committee.

Cardiac hypertrophy measurements

The hearts of NP, LP, and PP rats were dissected to determine heart hypertrophy and then frozen for molecular analysis. The body weight (BW, g) and total ventricular weight (VW) of the rats were recorded. Additionally, the LV was isolated to measure LV hypertrophy (LV/VW). (Note: normally the LV mass would be normalized with BW to identify LV hypertrophy. However, because of the presence of pubs in the LP rats, this measurement would not be representative of the overall LV hypertrophy).

Echocardiography and strain analysis

Echocardiography was performed to monitor cardiac hemodynamics. Rats were anesthetized with inhaled isoflurane (3% for induction and 2% for maintenance) for echocardiography and HR was normalized amongst all animals to minimize loading conditions that may affect conventional parameters. B-mode and M-mode echocardiography was performed (Visual Sonics Vevo 2100, 25-MHz linear transducer) to evaluate cardiac function. M-mode echocardiography was used to measure LVEF (%), FS (%), and HR (bpm). B-mode images were used in conjunction with Vevostrain, a software designed for STE, to calculate strain changes and are represented as global circumferential strain (GCS, %) and global radial strain (GRS, %). All myocardial strain calculations were obtained with STE and was measured in triplicates at end-systole. Hearts were removed rapidly under deep anesthesia for preservation of protein and mRNA integrity.

Real-time qPCR

Cardiac tissue was frozen immediately in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C to maintain RNA integrity. Total RNA from the heart was isolated using the Trizol RNA isolation protocol and was reversed transcribed with a gene specific primers. U6 was used as used as an internal reference or "housekeeping" gene.

Western blot analysis

Cardiac tissue was frozen immediately in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C to maintain protein integrity. Standard western blot analysis was performed using *in-vivo* whole heart lysates from all three main groups.

Statistical analysis

One-way ANOVA was used to assess for statistical significance. When significant overall differences were detected by the one-way ANOVA, pairwise post-hoc comparisons were carried out between groups using the Bonferroni correction to adequately control our overall type 1 error rate at 0.05. A *p*-value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Values are presented as mean +/- SEM.

Results

Development of heart hypertrophy in late pregnant rats

We assessed myocardial hypertrophy in all three groups (NP, LP, PP). As expected and previously reported in the literature, pregnancy was associated with significant cardiac hypertrophy. The hearts of LP rats had significant hypertrophy evident by an increase in VW (NP: 0.77+/-0.01 g vs. LP: 0.89+/-0.03 g vs. PPD14: 0.77+/-0.01 g; P=0.05 normalized to NP) and by LV/VW (NP: 0.48+/-0.02 g vs LP: 0.57+/-0.03 g vs PPD14: 0.49+/-0.026 g; P<0.01, normalized to NP) when compared to NP. Heart hypertrophy was sustained until day 14 after delivery (Figure 1 A and B).

Late pregnancy is not associated with any change in ejection fraction and fractional shortening

LP rats showed no statistically significant change in LVEF (NP: 71.35+/-1.52% vs. LP: 67.65+/-1.41%; P=0.10, normalized to NP) and FS (NP: 42.643+/-1.76% vs. LP: 39.07+/-0.90%; P=0.09, normalized to NP) compared to NP rats (Figure 2 A and B). Additionally, HR was normalized across all three groups and as such no statistical difference was detected between LP, NP, and PP rats were found (NP: 333.75+/-4.78 bpm vs. LP: 338.50+/-16.36 bpm vs. PPD14: 331+/-6.23 bpm; P=0.414, normalized to NP) (Figure 3C).

Late pregnancy is associated with a decrease in global circumferential and radial strain

LP rats had significantly reduced GSC (LP: -27.50+/-1.41%; NP: -34.375+/-1.95%; PPD14: -33.725+/-1.73%; P<0.01, normalized to NP) and GRS (LP: 42.77+/-3.41% *vs* NP: 58.3+/-4.97% *vs* PPD1: 52.11+/-7.54%; P<0.01, normalized to NP) when compared to NP rats. The changes in strain are transient as both strain values reversed by day 14 in the circumferential plane and after 1 day in the radial plane after delivery (Figure 3 A and B).

Molecular changes during pregnancy

Western Blot analysis showed that phosphorylated Akt/Akt protein levels in the LP group is decreased by ~7 fold compared to NP (phospho-AKT/AKT LP: 0.13+/-0.1 *vs* NP: 1.0+/-0.14 in NP) (Figure 4A). Phosphorylated STAT3/STAT3 was also significantly lower (~4 fold) at in the LP group (phospho-STAT3/STAT3 LP: 1.48+/-1 vs NP: 4.02±1.73) (Figure 4B). Additionally, using qPCR we identified that LP rats had ~2 fold decrease in Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor two (TNFRII) (Figure 4C).

Discussion

As the main findings of this study, we report that the changes during late pregnancy is associated with 1) a transient decrease in myocardial strain with no significant changes in conventional parameters; and 2) decreased in phosphorylation and expression in cardioprotective signaling molecules, such as Akt, STAT3, and TNFRII (PI3K/Akt/GSK3β and STAT3/MAPK/ERK1/2 signaling pathway). Based on these results, we speculate that these changes during late pregnant may have cardiac specific maladaptation's that are subclinical at rest and can be detected with STE. While these changes may not be detrimental initially, they may become clinically relevant when there is an increased demand on the heart. Additionally, preexisting cardiovascular complications may also be exacerbated during this period and can be an important indicator for cardiac function if EF is preserved during the peripartum period.

Reduced myocardial strain in late pregnancy

In this study, we observed a transient reduction in GCS and GRS with minimal changes in conventional parameters such as LVEF and FS. This suggests that myocardial strain imaging is more sensitive to changes in cardiac function caused by pregnancy. This result actually is to be expected, since STE directly measures the myocardium as opposed to the fraction of outbound blood (LVEF), which indirectly evaluates myocardial function [13,14].

In this study, we also normalized the HR to minimize loading conditions and their effect on conventional parameters. However, even with the adjustments to HR, the

conventional parameters were still not sensitive enough to be statistically significant [22,23]. We assume that if HR is not normalized, we would observe more variation in the LVEF and FS. Moreover, while LVEF has been variously reported in both clinical and preclinical settings, our results match the results reported in humans [12]. This consistency in the reporting and the low interobserver variability we observed makes us believe that myocardial strain imaging's ability to assess cardiac function is accurate and highly reproducible when utilized by trained technicians, students, and physicians.

Structural and molecular changes in late pregnancy

Based on our hypotheses, myocardial strain imaging was able to detect transient changes in late pregnancy. However, these results could be from a number of changes during pregnancy, like physiological hypertrophy and/or because of subclinical myocardial dysfunction that reduce LV systolic function. While both are possible, and may not be mutually exclusive from one another, further research is needed to elucidate why myocardial strain changes occur.

With the collected frozen heart samples, we identified some subclinical molecular changes during late pregnancy, like decreased Akt and STAT3 phosphorylation and decreased TNFRII expression. However, it is important to note that while some of these markers have been reported during pregnancy, there also seems to be some proteins signaling cascades that are also variously described in the literature [1,6,18,24]. It is our belief that this discrepancy could be due to changes/fluctuating levels of circulating sex steroid that influence specific protein activity or

phosphorylation throughout the duration of pregnancy. Many publications have defined their LP group on day 16-18, whereas we have decided to analyze them on the evening of day 20 [6,24]. This is significant because circulating serum steroid, like progesterone and estrogen, peaks on day 17-18 and rapidly declines back to homeostatic regulated levels through delivery [6,25,26]. This is extremely fascinating as some of the intracellular signaling molecules such as ERK1/2 and STAT3 in neonatal rat ventricular myocytes (NRVMs) have recently been shown to fluctuate activity in an progesterone and estrogen dependent manner respectively [6,27]. Moreover, these two proteins are involved in the extracellular matrix remodeling process that occurs during the reversible hypertrophy process, implicated in cardioprotection, and have been shown to facilitate the type hypertrophy (concentric vs eccentric hypertrophy) in a wide variety of settings [6,28]. Indicating again that the strain changes could be a result from the hypertrophy process and/or subclinical myocardial dysfunction. This late change in circulating sex steroid could also in part be why we see slight cardiac functional decline in the late pregnant stage and why some investigators have found trends of subclinical myocardial dysfunction [10,17].

Future of speckle tracking echocardiography during pregnancy

Based on these results, we encourage the utilization of STE along with conventional parameters in models of pregnancy for research and with pregnant patients. Currently, STE has yet to be adopted to common clinical routine except for in cases of cardio-oncology where cardiotoxic agent like anthracyclines can cause subtle but life-threatening functional decline [29–31]. While adoption for STE should be evaluated case-by-case, we believe that utilization of STE along with the conventional parameters will provide more cardiac-specific information during the peripartum period. Additionally, it is our belief that STE has the potential to identify early changes in function that could be a result from pathologic complications associated with pregnancy like ischemic heart disease, preeclampsia, and peripartum cardiomyopathy [16,32,33].

While ischemic heart disease or myocardial infarction in pregnancy is not very common, heart disease during pregnancy is the leading cause of nonobstetric mortality. This, in addition to the increased maternal age and changes in women's lifestyle patterns (stress, smoking, diabetes, hypercholesterolemia, chronic hypertension and alcohol, together with physical inactivity), has increased the incidence of ischemic heart disease in pregnant women older than 18 years of age over the past decade [34-37]. As such, early detection and understanding the maternal heart structure, function, and subclinical changes is of clinical importance. Further translational research is needed to validate if strain changes seen in cardiovascular complications associated with pregnancy (i.e lschemic heart disease, preeclampsia, and peripartum cardiomyopathy) mirror humans. Then, by characterizing molecular pathways, pharmaceutical agents can be created to target those pathways. STE can then be leveraged to measure cardiac functional recovery immediately and because of its sensitivity we can treat cardiovascular complications at earlier timepoints, which can be an important advancement for the management of cardiology patients that are pregnant.

Conclusion

The hearts of LP rats show signs of significant hypertrophy, reduced myocardial strain, and mild but statistically insignificant reduced conventional two-dimensional echocardiographic conventional parameters (LVEF and FS). During late pregnancy, the hearts also showed reduced activity in proteins implicated in cardioprotection. This may explain, in part, why we see reduced function at this time point. The hypertrophy, changes in strain, and LV systolic function all appear to be transient as all groups rapidly reversed during the post-partum period.

Figures



Figure 1: (A) Total ventricular weight measurements indicates that the overall mass of the LP group is significantly larger than NP group (P=0.05 normalized to NP). Recovery was detected 14 days after delivery (B) LP rats showed significant LV hypertrophy (P<0.01, normalized to NP) compared to NP. Recovery was detected 14 days after delivery.



Figure 2: Conventional echocardiographic parameters such as (A) Ejection Fraction (P=0.10, normalized to NP) and (B) Fractional Shortening (P=0.09, normalized to NP) showed no associations with any of the groups (NP, LP, and PP). (C) Heart rate was normalized to minimize loading factors on the heart (P=0.5).



Figure 3: Speckle tracking echocardiographic parameter such as (A) global circumferential strain (P<0.01, normalized with NP) and global radial strain (P<0.01, normalized with NP) had a transient reduction in strain. However, functional recovery was detected after 14 days after delivery for GSC and only 1 day after delivery for GRS.



Figure 4: Western blot and qPCR analysis shows a (A) ~ seven-fold decrease in Akt activity (P<0.05), (B) ~ four-fold decrease in STAT3 activity (P<0.05), and (C) ~ two-fold decrease in TNFRII expression (P<0.05).



Figure 5: Mechanistic overview of some intracellular signaling molecules play a

role in cardioprotection.

References

- [1] Eghbali M, Deva R, Alioua A, Minosyan TY, Ruan H, Wang Y, et al.
 Molecular and functional signature of heart hypertrophy during pregnancy.
 Circ Res 2005;96:1208–1216. doi:10.1161/01.RES.0000170652.71414.16.
- [2] Thornburg KL, Jacobson SL, Giraud GD, Morton MJ. Hemodynamic changes in pregnancy. Semin Perinatol 2000;24:11–14.
- [3] Soma-Pillay P, Catherine N-P, Tolppanen H, Mebazaa A, Tolppanen H, Mebazaa A. Physiological changes in pregnancy. Cardiovasc J Afr 2016;27:89–94. doi:10.5830/CVJA-2016-021.
- [4] Hall ME, George EM, Granger JP. The Heart During Pregnancy. Rev Esp Cardiol 2011;64:1045–1050. doi:10.1016/j.recesp.2011.07.009.
- [5] Chung E, Leinwand LA. Pregnancy as a cardiac stress model. Cardiovasc Res 2014;101:561–570. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvu013.
- [6] Chung E, Yeung F, Leinwand LA. Akt and MAPK signaling mediate pregnancy-induced cardiac adaptation. J Appl Physiol 2012;112:1564–1575. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00027.2012.
- [7] Bamfo JE a. K, Kametas NA, Nicolaides KH, Chambers JB. Reference ranges for tissue Doppler measures of maternal systolic and diastolic left ventricular function. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2007;29:414–420. doi:10.1002/uog.3966.

- [8] Bamfo JEAK, Kametas NA, Nicolaides KH, Chambers JB. Maternal left ventricular diastolic and systolic long-axis function during normal pregnancy. Eur J Echocardiogr 2007;8:360–368. doi:10.1016/j.euje.2006.12.004.
- [9] Vlahović-Stipac A, Stankić V, Popović ZB, Putniković B, Nesković AN. Left ventricular function in gestational hypertension: serial echocardiographic study. Am J Hypertens 2010;23:85–91. doi:10.1038/ajh.2009.168.
- [10] Schannwell CM, Zimmermann T, Schneppenheim M, Plehn G, Marx R, Strauer BE. Left ventricular hypertrophy and diastolic dysfunction in healthy pregnant women. Cardiology 2002;97:73–78. doi:10.1159/000057675.
- [11] Mesa A, Jessurun C, Hernandez A, Adam K, Brown D, Vaughn WK, et al. Left ventricular diastolic function in normal human pregnancy. Circulation 1999;99:511–517.
- [12] Cong J, Fan T, Yang X, Squires JW, Cheng G, Zhang L, et al. Structural and functional changes in maternal left ventricle during pregnancy: a threedimensional speckle-tracking echocardiography study. Cardiovascular Ultrasound 2015;13:6. doi:10.1186/1476-7120-13-6.
- [13] Bansal M, Kasliwal RR. How do I do it? Speckle-tracking echocardiography. Indian Heart J 2013;65:117–123. doi:10.1016/j.ihj.2012.12.004.
- [14] Ahnve S, Gilpin E, Henning H, Curtis G, Collins D, Ross J. Limitations and advantages of the ejection fraction for defining high risk after acute myocardial infarction. The American Journal of Cardiology 1986;58:872– 878.

- [15] Foley TA, Radiologist, Department of Radiology, Mankad SV, Cardiologist, Anavekar NS, Cardiologist, et al. Measuring Left Ventricular Ejection Fraction – Techniques and Potential Pitfalls. European Cardiology Review 2012;8:108. doi:10.15420/ecr.2012.8.2.108.
- [16] Mondillo S, Galderisi M, Mele D, Cameli M, Lomoriello VS, Zacà V, et al. Speckle-Tracking Echocardiography A New Technique for Assessing Myocardial Function. JUM 2011;30:71–83.
- [17] Goland S, Perelman S, Asalih N, Shimoni S, Walfish O, Hallak M, et al. Shortness of Breath During Pregnancy: Could a Cardiac Factor Be Involved? Clin Cardiol 2015;38:598–603. doi:10.1002/clc.22452.
- [18] Eghbali M, Wang Y, Toro L, Stefani E. Heart hypertrophy during pregnancy: a better functioning heart? Trends Cardiovasc Med 2006;16:285–291. doi:10.1016/j.tcm.2006.07.001.
- [19] Umar S, Nadadur R, Iorga A, Amjedi M, Matori H, Eghbali M. Cardiac structural and hemodynamic changes associated with physiological heart hypertrophy of pregnancy are reversed postpartum. J Appl Physiol 2012;113:1253–1259. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00549.2012.
- [20] Li J, Umar S, Amjedi M, Iorga A, Sharma S, Nadadur RD, et al. New frontiers in heart hypertrophy during pregnancy. Am J Cardiovasc Dis 2012;2:192–207.
- [21] DAWLEY S. Sprague Dawley Rat n.d.:11.

- [22] Cikes M, Solomon SD. Beyond ejection fraction: an integrative approach for assessment of cardiac structure and function in heart failure. Eur Heart J 2016;37:1642–1650. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehv510.
- [23] Cheng CP, Freeman GL, Santamore WP, Constantinescu MS, Little WC. Effect of loading conditions, contractile state, and heart rate on early diastolic left ventricular filling in conscious dogs. Circ Res 1990;66:814–823.
- [24] Gonzalez AMD, Osorio JC, Manlhiot C, Gruber D, Homma S, Mital S. Hypertrophy signaling during peripartum cardiac remodeling. American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology 2007;293:H3008– H3013. doi:10.1152/ajpheart.00401.2007.
- [25] Grota LJ, Eik-Nes KB. PLASMA PROGESTERONE CONCENTRATIONS DURING PREGNANCY AND LACTATION IN THE RAT. Reproduction 1967;13:83–91. doi:10.1530/jrf.0.0130083.
- [26] Barkley MS, Geschwind II, Bradford GE. The gestational pattern of estradiol, testosterone and progesterone secretion in selected strains of mice. Biol Reprod 1979;20:733–738.
- [27] Zouein FA, Altara R, Chen Q, Lesnefsky EJ, Kurdi M, Booz GW. Pivotal Importance of STAT3 in Protecting the Heart from Acute and Chronic Stress: New Advancement and Unresolved Issues. Front Cardiovasc Med 2015;2. doi:10.3389/fcvm.2015.00036.
- [28] Kehat I, Davis J, Tiburcy M, Accornero F, Saba-El-Leil MK, Maillet M, et al. ERK1/2 regulate the balance between eccentric and concentric cardiac growth. Circ Res 2011;108. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.231514.

- [29] Moazeni S, Cadeiras M, Yang EH, Deng MC, Nguyen K-L. Anthracycline induced cardiotoxicity: biomarkers and "Omics" technology in the era of patient specific care. Clin Transl Med 2017;6:17. doi:10.1186/s40169-017-0148-3.
- [30] Gorcsan J, Tanaka H. Echocardiographic Assessment of Myocardial Strain. Journal of the American College of Cardiology 2011;58:1401–1413. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2011.06.038.
- [31] Smiseth OA, Torp H, Opdahl A, Haugaa KH, Urheim S. Myocardial strain imaging: how useful is it in clinical decision making? Eur Heart J 2016;37:1196–1207. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehv529.
- [32] Greaves SC. Assessment of left ventricular systolic function in research and in clinical practice. Heart 2000;83:493–494. doi:10.1136/heart.83.5.493.
- [33] Berli A-SJ, Jud Schefer R, Steininger K, Schwarzwald CC. The use of strain, strain rate, and displacement by 2D speckle tracking for assessment of systolic left ventricular function in goats: applicability and influence of general anesthesia. Cardiovasc Ultrasound 2015;13. doi:10.1186/s12947-015-0005-8.
- [34] Li J, Umar S, Iorga A, Youn J-Y, Wang Y, Regitz-Zagrosek V, et al. Cardiac vulnerability to ischemia/reperfusion injury drastically increases in late pregnancy. Basic Res Cardiol 2012;107:271. doi:10.1007/s00395-012-0271-7.
- [35] James AH, Jamison MG, Biswas MS, Brancazio LR, Swamy GK, Myers ER. Acute myocardial infarction in pregnancy: a United States population-based

study. Circulation 2006;113:1564–1571.

doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.576751.

- [36] Ladner HE, Danielsen B, Gilbert WM. Acute myocardial infarction in pregnancy and the puerperium: a population-based study. Obstet Gynecol 2005;105:480–484. doi:10.1097/01.AOG.0000151998.50852.31.
- [37] Roth A, Elkayam U. Acute myocardial infarction associated with pregnancy.J Am Coll Cardiol 2008;52:171–180. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2008.03.049.